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DECISION 

Vincent Nafarrete, Administrative Law Judge, Office of Administrative Hearings, 

heard this matter in Walnut on March 20 and 22 - 24, 2006, and May 10, 2006. 

Petitioner (Student) was represented by Omar Naime, Attorney at Law, of Adams 

ESQ. 

Respondent Walnut Valley Unified School District (District) was represented by J. 

Robert Roice. Student’s father was present throughout the hearing. 

On December 8, 2005, Student’s counsel filed the Request for Due Process Hearing 

and Motion for Stay Put with the Special Education Division of the Office of Administrative 

Hearings (OAH). On December 9, 2005, OAH issued a Notice of Motion. On December 14, 

2005, District by its counsel filed an opposition to the motion. On January 3, 2005, OAH 

denied Student’s motion for stay put. 

On January 24, 2006, Student filed a request for mediation. On February 6, 2006, 

OAH scheduled a mediation for February 16 and a due process hearing for March 1, 2006. 

On March 1, 2006, the parties agreed to the continuance of the hearing until March 20 and 
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the convening of the prehearing conference on March 7, 2006. On March 7, 2006, the 

parties stipulated to continue the prehearing conference for one day. The due process 

hearing commenced on March 20, 2006, and was heard for three additional days that week. 

On March 24, 2006, the hearing was then continued until April 24 to allow the parties to call 

additional witnesses. On April 24, 2006, the Administrative Law Judge was unavailable for 

the hearing due to a family medical emergency. The parties stipulated to a continuance of 

the evidentiary portion of the hearing till May 10, 2006. The hearing was completed on May 

10, 2006. 

At the conclusion of the hearing on May 10, 2006, the parties requested that they be 

allowed to file written argument and the hearing was continued for the parties to file 

written argument. On May 24, 2006, District filed its Closing Brief which was marked as 

District Exhibit 38. On May 25, 2006, Student filed his Closing Brief which was marked as 

Exhibit JB 42. 

ISSUES 

The issues presented for decision in this due process matter concern the school 

years from September 2003 through December 2005 and are categorized as follows: 

1. Did respondent school district fail to conduct assessments of student in all 

areas of suspected disability by not assessing Student for depression, hearing, vision, and 

fine motor skills necessary for writing? 

2. Did respondent school district deny the Student a free appropriate public 

education by failing to fulfill its child find obligations beginning in November 2004 when he 

demonstrated emotional and/or social problems? 

3. Did respondent school district deny the Student a free appropriate public 

education by failing to provide an appropriate transition plan at the time that Student 

turned 16-years old? 

4. Did respondent school district violate any procedural rights or safeguards by: 
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A. Failing to give prior written notice of refusals to provide speech therapy, 

counseling, and the FastForward reading program. 

B. Failing to convene an IEP meeting or develop an IEP within 60 days of the 

consent to an assessment plan. 

C. Failing to hold an IEP meeting within 30 days of the parent’s request. 

D. Failing to conduct a timely triennial assessment. 

5. Did respondent school district deny the student a free appropriate public 

education by failing to provide special education and related services that conformed to his 

individual education programs by failing to provide (A) speech and language programs 

after December 2004; and (B) counseling after December 2004? 

6. Did respondent school district deny the student a free and appropriate public 

education in the 2003-2004, 2004-2005, and 2005-2006 school years by failing to design an 

educational program that met his unique needs, was reasonably calculated to provide some 

educational benefit, and/or comported with the student’s individualized educational 

program by: 

A. In school year 2003-2004, placing Student in a general education classroom 

English setting without a special education aide or other supports. 

B. In school year 2003-2004, failing to provide appropriate instruction or services in 

reading and counseling. 

C. In school years 2004-2005, discontinuing speech and counseling services after 

Student began receiving home instruction late in the fall semester? 

7. Is Student entitled to reimbursement for a private or independent psycho- 

educational assessment performed by Dr. Robert J. Rome in November 2005? 

FACTUAL FINDINGS 

1. Student is a seventeen-year child who lives with his father in Diamond Bar, 

which is within the jurisdictional boundaries of the Walnut Valley Unified School District. He 
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is a rising senior at the District's Diamond Bar High School and is currently enrolled in 

independent study and/or home instruction. Student has been a pupil in the District since 

in or about October 2002 and is eligible for special education and services based on a 

diagnosis of a specific learning disability. 

PRIOR SCHOOL YEARS 

2. (A) Student was first referred for assessment while attending elementary 

school in the Bonita Unified School District. In first grade, he received special services in 

speech; his first grade teacher recommended daily practice in reading. In second grade, his 

teacher reported that the student's attitude and reading improved. In third grade, he 

struggled in language arts and with his fine motor skills but his parents did not want him 

assessed for or placed in special education. He received private tutoring. The school nurse 

reported to the mother that Student engaged in facial grimacing, violent bilateral hand 

flapping, and nose picking in the classroom. The mother replied her son had not been 

evaluated by a medical doctor because the father did not believe there was anything 

abnormal about him. In fourth grade, Student's teacher stated the he had trouble when 

material was presented to him visually and queried whether the parents were going to 

allow him to be tested further. Student was tested and found to need resource specialist 

placement. A neurological screening showed that Student had poor auditory memory. His 

mother was concerned about her son's difficulties in reading, writing, spelling, and 

attention. In fifth grade, Student began seeing psychiatrist, Paul H. Brown, M.D., for 

counseling and was prescribed Prozac for depression. He continued his facial grimacing 

and hand flapping for which he had not seen a medical doctor and the mother felt was 

related to stress and excitement. In sixth grade at the middle school, Student was placed in 

resource specialist program (RSP) classes in reading and English. He attained "A's" in RSP 

reading and a "C" and "D+" in RSP English. 
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3. (A) For seventh and eighth grades, Student attended intermediate school in 

the Corona Norco Unified School District. In or about September 2001, parents removed 

from the speech and language program because they felt services were no longer 

warranted or helpful for their son. 

(B)  In an IEP dated September 3, 2002, Student was determined by the Corona 

Norco school district to be eligible for special education due to specific learning disability. 

There were discrepancies in his reading and written expression and he had processing 

disorders in attention and sensory motor skills. He was placed in a general education 

classroom for 71 percent of the school day and in a special education classroom for 

language arts for 29 percent of the school day. He received consultation services for all of 

his classes and collaboration services in science and algebra. He was provided designated 

instructional services (DIS) in occupational therapy and received a modified curriculum as 

well as training in specific and study skills. Student was to receive assistive technology in 

the form of a word processor or AlphaSmart device and help with note taking. 

(C)  As set forth in the September 2002 IEP, Student was successful in his 

academic work when he was motivated. He was thoughtful, loved to work on projects, and 

had a variety of interests. His father expressed concerns about his son's sensitivity, his 

tendency to shut down, and the legibility of his writing. His grandmother was worried 

whether he could copy from the classroom board. As for his then present levels of 

performance, Student did not meet his goal for writing legibly and partially met his goals 

for organization, paragraph writing, and vocabulary. He could write short paragraphs when 

prompted, could not write legibly in either cursive or printing, and had stronger oral 

comprehension skills. Student had difficulty communicating with his teacher. Occupational 

services were offered. Student's father signed the IEP and agreed with the IEP goals, 

benchmarks, and services. 

(D) At the beginning of eighth grade during the 2002-2003 school year, and after 

he was found eligible for special education, Student was suspended from school for five 
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days for causing or attempting to cause physical injury and disrupting school activities. He 

was receiving "F" grades in eighth grade language arts, U.S. history, algebra, and science at 

the time. 

(E)  As set forth in the September 2002 IEP document, Student received a triennial 

evaluation or review in September 2001 by the Corona Norco district. His next triennial 

review was scheduled to occur in September 2004. 

4. (A) Sometime at the beginning of eighth grade during the 2002-2003 school 

year, and after he was found eligible for special education, Student was suspended from 

school for five days for causing or attempting to cause physical injury and disrupting school 

activities. He was receiving "F" grades in eighth grade language arts, U.S. history, algebra, 

and science at the time. 

(B)  Shortly thereafter, on or about October 25, 2002, Student and his father 

moved from the Corona Norco district into Diamond Bar and within the jurisdictional 

boundaries of the District. He transferred into and finished eighth grade at the District's 

Chaparral Middle School. Pursuant to his September 2002 IEP, he was initially placed in a 

resource specialist program. At Chaparral Middle School, Student improved his grades 

although he had a "D" in social science and "F" in algebra towards the end of the fall 

semester. The IEP team at the middle school recommended that he receive special 

education assistance in language arts and study skills as well as assistive technology for 

improving his writing skills. 

5. On January 8, 2003, the District held an annual IEP meeting for Student who 

was in eighth grade. He was deemed eligible for special education due to a specific 

learning disability. He was found to have disorders in attention and sensory motor skills and 

a severe discrepancy between his intellectual ability and achievement in basic reading skills 

and written expression. With respect to his present levels of performance, the IEP team 

found that Student struggled with spelling and writing essays. He tended to rush through 

his work which was not legible. The IEP team placed him in a general education class with 
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daily resource specialist support in language arts. Student was given accommodations for 

test taking. The father, however, disagreed with the conclusion that his son had a problem 

with basic reading skills, stating his son had "no problems with reading at home." 

Nevertheless, the father signed the IEP document, agreeing with his son's placement; the 

father also consented to an assistive technology assessment. 

6. (A) Later during eighth grade, on March 19, 2003, Student was assessed by 

an assistive technology (AT) specialist. His grandmother had expressed concerns about his 

writing and spelling. For the assessment, the AT specialist interviewed the father and 

Student, obtained writing samples from the Student, and had the Student use an 

AlphaSmart writing device and Franklin Speller program. The AT specialist found Student's 

writing to be largely illegible and his spelling poor. 

(B)  During his interview with the AT specialist, the father stated that his son's 

main difficulty was written language. Student wrote too quickly which resulted in his writing 

being sloppy and difficult to read. He would "shut down with the writing" when the 

assignment seemed too difficult for him. He was a poor speller and the father felt his son 

hid his poor spelling with sloppy writing. He had used the AlphaSmart writing device but he 

was self-conscious about using the device and being seen as different from other students. 

The father was also concerned about Student's transition into high school when writing 

assignments would become more complex. 

(C)  During the AT assessment, Student rested his head on his arm on the table 

and the AT specialist had to elicit information or answers from him. He stated that he had 

the most trouble with spelling because he guessed and his misspellings were so poor that 

spell check programs were of no help. He preferred to print but admitted his printing was 

sloppy because he rushed and he also wrote illegibly when having to print a word he could 

not spell. On some homework writing assignments, Student dictated to his father or 

grandmother and he typed the transcribed work on the computer. Student admitted that 

he liked using the AlphaSmart writing device in class only when the rest of the class was 
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using it as well. He said it did not bother him that he was a poor speller and disliked any 

school subjects that required a lot of writing. 

(D) The AT specialist found that Student's writing was sloppy because he rushed 

but he could spell more accurately when he took more time to think about his writing. In 

observing Student and talking to his resource specialist, the AT specialist opined that it 

appeared Student was reluctant to make a great effort in his work and relied on adults to 

assist him in completing his assignments. It was difficult to obtain a rough draft from him 

because he would shut down and not try. The AT specialist recommended that Student 

continue to access writing programs or software to assist in his writing and improve his 

spelling, possibly use a voice command computer writing program, and have more time in 

the RSP program so that he could receive more individual attention in preparation for high 

school. 

7. On March 20, 2003, Student's middle school IEP team, including his father, 

convened an addendum IEP meeting to review his progress in school and the assistive 

technology assessment. In language arts, he was showing more confidence and 

participating in class. He was doing well in his computer class and his teacher 

recommended that he use a computer in all of his academic classes. He was not showing as 

much enthusiasm in his social studies class. He was failing math but participating more in 

class and completing his homework although not consistently. With respect to assistive 

technology, the IEP team determined to explore Student's use of a dictation device. Student 

was to begin having all of his teachers in his academic classes sign his binder reminder. The 

IEP team recommended that he receive RSP support for language arts and study skills when 

he entered high school in the fall of 2003. Student's father signed the addendum to the IEP 

but did not give his permission for implementation of the addendum IEP. 

Accessibility modified document



9 

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR—NINTH GRADE 

8. (A) In September 2003, Student began his freshman year at the District's 

Diamond Bar High School. Pursuant to his January 2003 IEP, he was enrolled in general 

education for all classes except English. For English, he was placed in a RSP class with about 

12 other special education pupils. Student did not like being labeled as a special education 

pupil and was embarrassed about his placement in a RSP English class. 

(B)  On an undetermined date in or about October 2003, Student asked his father 

if he could see Dr. Brown, his psychiatrist. Student had been seeing the psychiatrist for 

treatment of anxiety and mood stability for several years. The father made an appointment 

with Dr. Brown for the next day. Student told his psychiatrist that other pupils in his RSP 

English class were "picking on" or harassing him at school. Dr. Brown found that Student 

was under duress and that his emotional well being was deteriorating. Eventually, the 

psychiatrist found that Student's adjustment faltered as he became more uncomfortable at 

school. Dr. Brown found that Student felt better when he was not at school. Student also 

told his therapist about his stress at school. 

(C)  On November 14, 2003, Student's therapist told the father that his son had 

reported being physically and verbally abused in his RSP English class. The therapist 

recommended that Student be removed from the special education class due to excessive 

stress and damage to his psyche. Four days later, the father sent an e-mail message to 

school district's administrative director of pupil personnel, advising of the therapist's 

statements and requesting an emergency IEP meeting to change his son's placement for 

English because he was being abused in his RSP English class. 

(D) In or about November 2003, the high school principal received a letter from 

the student's therapist complaining about Student being bullied or abused in his RSP 

English class. High school personnel investigated the complaint and found no significant 

evidence of the Student being bullied. When he was interviewed, Student dismissed or 

downplayed the alleged incidents of bullying. Student replied that the RSP English class was 
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of no benefit to him, the class was not a good learning environment, and he did not respect 

the teacher. 

9. On November 19, 2003, the high school dean held a telephonic conference 

with the father to discuss his request to change his son's placement from RSP English. 

Acceding to the father’s request, the dean determined that Student should be placed in a 

general education English class. As for accommodations for his general education English 

class, Student was allowed to complete in-class writing assignments at home, he did not 

have to write group work assignments as those assignments were to be written by other 

pupils, and he could take vocabulary tests in a collaboration class. The dean noted that 

Student was earning a "B" in his RSP English class and that his grade would carry-over to 

his new general education English class. 

10. On December 2, 2003, the District held a conference to discuss 

accommodations for Student and/or modifications to the curriculum for his general 

education English class. Student was attaining a "D" grade in the class. Participants included 

Student's father, general education English teacher, and school psychologist. The District 

decided that Student should sit in front of the English classroom, a teaching assistant would 

take class notes or obtain copies of other pupils' notes for him, and the English teacher 

would e-mail weekly progress notes to the father. In addition, the District advised the father 

to allow the school psychologist to speak with his son's therapist about his experiences at 

school. The school psychologist was to continue building rapport with Student to reduce 

his stress about school. The father did not sign a release to allow the school psychologist to 

speak to his son’s therapist or psychiatrist. With respect to English, if he completed his last 

English paper, Student's grade in his general education English class was to be changed 

from a "D" to a "B". Even with accommodations and modifications, Student failed his 

general education English class in the spring 2004 semester. 
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11. (A) It was not established that Student was physically or verbally abused, 

harassed, or bullied by his classmates or other pupils in his special education or RSP English 

class at Diamond Bar High School during the fall 2003 semester of ninth grade. 

(B)  It was not established by the psychiatrist's testimony that Student was abused 

or bullied by other pupils in his ninth grade special education English class. Dr. Brown 

testified that Student complained during two visits that he was being "picked on" and 

made fun of by other pupils in his special education class. Dr. Brown did not testify that 

Student reported being pushed, shoved, or physically abused by any other pupils. Dr. 

Brown admitted that Student is not good "historian" and his emotional difficulties increase 

in the educational setting. At school, he becomes anxious and agitated. Student's 

emotional status is fine when he is outside of school, such as when he is working. He feels 

better during breaks from school. According to Dr. Brown, Student would prefer to be 

passive, put in his time, and not be bothered; he does not want to expend time or energy. 

(C)  It was not established by the testimony of the father that Student suffered 

any physical or verbal abuse by other pupils in his special education English class. The 

father did not witness any abuse. Rather, he testified that his son started high school in fine 

manner but then his grades dropped for "no reason". On an undetermined date, Student 

reported to the father that some pupils knocked his books off the table and he asked to see 

his psychiatrist. The father made an appointment for him with the psychiatrist for the next 

day. The father did not immediately complain to the high school that his son was being 

bullied. Moreover, he did not know any of the details of the purported bullying such as 

names of the other pupils. The father has admitted that his son is embarrassed about being 

enrolled in special education. 

(D) It was not established by Student's testimony that he was verbally and 

physically abused by other pupils in his ninth grade special education English class. Student 

did not have a good recollection of ninth grade even though it was only two years ago and 
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he reported that he was abused by pupils from that class. He could not recall the name of 

his ninth grade English teacher or the names of the four boys who purportedly abused him. 

SPRING 2004 SEMESTER 

12. On February 4, 2004, the father gave his consent for the District to conduct 

assessments of his son in several areas, including academic achievement, language and 

speech development, and cognitive development. 

13. (A) On March 2, 2004, school psychologist, Diana Ketterman, Ph.D., conducted 

a psychoeducational assessment and team evaluation of Student who was 14 years old. At 

that time, Student was enrolled in all general education classes after his father requested 

that he be removed from his RSP English class due to purported bullying. He also received 

collaborative services through the resource specialist program. 

(B)  In her report, Dr. Ketterman reviewed Student’s health and development and 

school histories, obtained comments from his current teachers, and summarized prior 

testing results. In World History class, Student had failed to turn in his most recent 

assignments and failed to answer most of the questions of a recent quiz. For an English 

autobiographical essay, he did not do a single assignment, saying nothing happens in his 

life. Dr. Ketterman performed and summarized the results of tests of his cognitive and 

intellectual functioning, socio-emotional functioning, and academic achievement. Student 

had a full scale IQ of 98; had a history of socio-emotional, organizational, and motivational 

challenges; reported having high levels of resentment towards teachers, social stress, 

depression, and sense of inadequacy; and had low scores in basic reading skills and reading 

comprehension. A speech and language assessment showed that Student qualified for DIS 

services due to an articulation disorder and a language disorder in semantics and 

pragmatics, which adversely affected his oral communication in an academic environment. 

(C)  With regard to social and emotional issues, Dr. Ketterman noted in Student’s 

history that he had taken Prozac for depression. The school psychologist administered the 
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Behavioral Assessment System for Children (BASC) to Student to evaluate his behavioral 

and emotional difficulties in order to prepare intervention strategies. Under the BASC, the 

school psychologist found significant areas of concern for Student in his attitude toward 

teachers, locus of control, social stress, depression, and sense of inadequacy. Under Jensen 

Inventory tests of personality, Student displayed negative attitudes towards authority, 

family, and school. He described his own behavior as unpredictable, nonconforming, 

aggressive, and antisocial. His temperament was to question authority and not to follow 

rules. Dr. Ketterman concluded that Student’s social emotional profile indicated the need 

for intervention and instruction in social skill training and social emotional development. 

(D) In summarizing the team evaluation, Dr. Ketterman found that Student had 

average intelligence, continued to have academic weaknesses in language arts, and had 

erratic academic progress. His social emotional profile indicated the need for intervention 

and instruction in both social skills training and social emotional development to manage 

feelings of anxiety and depression. Due to a specific learning disability, he showed a 

significant discrepancy between his ability and achievement in reading and written 

expression and a need for DIS speech and language services. Dr. Ketterman recommended 

such academic interventions as extended exam time, picture cues, use of a peer to help him 

keep up in class, small group instruction, training in study skills and motivation, use of 

collaborative and special education services, use of oral tests, and use of technology to help 

him access information. Dr. Ketterman further recommended that Student participate in the 

resource specialist program to receive help in his academic subjects including English and 

reading, receive speech and language services and increased special education services 

through the SDC program. In the social emotional area, Dr. Ketterman recommended that 

Student have opportunities for special recognition and encouragement, DIS counseling 

with the school psychologist to increase “self-leadership skills” and motivation, AB3632 

referral for mental health support, and coordinated treatment plans between his private 

therapists and school counseling. 
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14. On an undetermined date prior to March 2004, Student began receiving 

speech and language therapy at the high school. In or about March 2004, the father spoke 

to the school district about his son's speech and language services. Student was 

embarrassed whenever his teacher announced in front of the class that it was time for him 

to go to his DIS session. He did not like being singled out as a special education pupil. He 

began experiencing more academic difficulties in high school. 

15. (A) On April 5, 2004, the District convened a triennial IEP meeting for Student 

and discussed the results of the recent psycho-educational evaluation. The father 

participated in the meeting and stated that his son liked coming to school and was always 

on time. The father indicated that his son said good things about his teachers and the staff, 

was trying very hard in his classes, and wanted to please his teachers. The IEP team re- 

confirmed Student’s eligibility for special education based on language and speech 

disorders and specific learning disabilities. His difficulties with abstract categorical 

reasoning and his language and speech disorders adversely affected his academic 

achievement. 

(B)  On April 5, 2004, the IEP team determined that Student should be placed in 

education general classroom setting with resource specialist programming in his academic 

subjects including English and reading. DIS services were offered in once weekly speech 

and language therapy and once or twice monthly counseling. To meet his goals and 

objectives, he was offered accommodations and modifications in the form of Franklin 

Speller and Alpha Smart computer programs for writing, receipt of legible notes, and 

collaboration and note-taking services. His progress was to be monitored with bi-weekly 

comments from teachers to his parents and evaluated every six weeks. Student was also 

expected to pass Algebra I and the high school exit examination and meet coursework 

requirements for graduation. 

(C)  As set forth in the narratives notes from the triennial meeting, the IEP team 

learned that Student was doing well in his introductory computer class but was not doing 
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or turning in all of his homework and assignments in his other classes. He had just started 

going to the school psychologist’s office at lunch time to work on his algebra assignments. 

The school psychologist shared the results of her assessment and suggested that Student 

needed DIS counseling and to interact with peers to improve his socialization skills. 

Strategies were discussed to help him to complete his homework, such as a tutor and 

mandatory homework before using the computer. The IEP team discussed Student’s 

participation in stage or set building and his possible placement in a sheltered English class. 

The triennial meeting was continued for two days to give the father time to consider the 

District’s offer of educational services. 

(E) On April 7, 2004, the District held a follow-up conference to the triennial IEP. 

The father was advised that his son may be able to participate in stage or set design in the 

fall and was given a list of possible student tutors for his son. Classroom modifications and 

the ELD program were discussed. However, at the end of the conference, the father 

declined AB3632 counseling and declined to consent to the implementation of the IEP 

developed at the triennial IEP meeting. 

16. (A) For the progress reporting period ending on April 23, 2004, Student was 

attaining a “C” in world history, “D’s” in introductory computers and algebra, and an “F” in 

his general education English I class. 

(B)  From April to July 2004, Student saw the school psychologist on six occasions 

for 30-minute sessions that usually occurred when he was pulled out from his English class. 

He worked with the school psychologist on problem-solving skills and was on a behavior 

plan due to inconsistent compliance with teachers’ directives. 

2004-2005 SCHOOL YEAR—TENTH GRADE 

17. Before the start of the fall 2004 semester, Student's father requested an IEP 

meeting to discuss his son's placement for English for his upcoming tenth grade year. He 

expressed concerns for his son's safety if he were to be placed in a class with the same boys 
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who purportedly bullied him at the beginning of ninth grade. At a meeting on August 30, 

2004, the IEP team discussed what placement would meet Student's needs for emotional 

well being and academic success. The IEP team considered placing Student in a special 

education or RSP English class and the school psychologist offered to provide instruction to 

the class on bullying. The IEP team also considered placing him in a general education 

English class with accommodations and/or modifications. The father presented an option of 

one to one tutoring in English for his son and asked for an IEP meeting to discuss his son’s 

placement for tenth grade English. 

18. (A) In September 2004, Student began tenth grade at Diamond Bar High 

School enrolled in a general education English class. He had been offered speech and 

language services but did not receive the services at the start of this school year because 

his father declined to sign the earlier April 2004 IEP. Soon after school started, the father 

gave his consent for speech and language therapy and Student began receiving the 

services. Away from school, he continued seeing and receiving treatment from his 

psychiatrist and therapist. 

(B)  During the course of the fall 2004 semester, Student did not do well in his 

general education English class. He did not participate in class and did not do the academic 

coursework. He rarely did the homework. His teacher found him quiet and withdrawn and 

tried to prod him to do his writing assignments. Student responded by saying he did not 

know, did not care, or said nothing at all. His grades fell and he became more withdrawn. 

The teacher became concerned about Student and raised her concerns at an upcoming IEP 

meeting. 

19. (A) On September 8, 2004, the IEP team met again to discuss Student's 

placement for English. A goal for paragraph writing and a recommendation of a progress 

portfolio were discussed. The father presented goals that were not attainable since his son’s 

writing and spelling were at the second grade level and he needed speech therapy for 

linguistics and oral presentation. Student's general education English teacher advised that 
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he had not completed an English assignment, was non-responsive and non-cooperative in 

class, and was going to fail. The IEP team, including the father, also agreed that modifying 

the general education English curriculum was not a reasonable alternative. The IEP team 

recommended that Student change to a RSP class for English and reading and receive as 

much supports as possible. The father, however, wanted one-to-one tutoring and a Cisco 

computer class for his son and would not agree to placement in RSP English class. The 

school psychologist requested consent to speak to Student's therapist but the father 

declined to give his consent. 

(B)  On September 13, 2004, the IEP team met again to discuss Student's 

placement for English for the school year. The father rejected the school district's 

recommendations that his son be placed in a RSP reading class or in RSP English with 

emotional support provided by the school psychologist. The father insisted again on one-

to- one tutoring with a specialist. Because the father did not consent to placing his son in a 

RSP class, the IEP team kept Student in his general education English class but decided to 

provide him with additional tutoring support before or after school. The IEP team also 

recommended that Student receive emotional support and coping and problem-solving 

strategies to assist him in his academic program. The school psychologist offered group 

counseling and asked again for the father's consent to speak to Student's therapist or 

psychiatrist. The father once again declined to give his consent. The IEP team also offered 

an AB3632 referral for county mental health counseling. 

(C)  From September 12, 2004, until November 22, 2004, Student saw the school 

psychologist on eleven occasions for 30-minute counseling sessions. The sessions usually 

occurred on Mondays during the first part of his English class. 

20. (A) Beginning in October 2004, the District arranged for Student to receive 

tutoring in reading and writing from one of the English teachers at Diamond Bar High 

School. The tutoring sessions were scheduled for zero period at the start of the school day 

and Student's work during the tutoring sessions was to be credited toward his grade in his 
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general education English class. After a productive first session, however, Student was not 

cooperative or communicative thereafter. He did not try to read or write and did not talk 

during the tutoring sessions. The teacher tried to bring Student out by sharing things about 

himself but Student did not respond. He began missing sessions. The tutoring sessions 

ended after about six weeks because Student stopped coming to the sessions altogether. 

The teacher found Student had the ability to read and write but chose not to do so. 

(B)  In addition to the tutor, the District assigned a school psychologist intern to 

help Student with his vocabulary and to prepare for tests. And while Student's once weekly 

speech and language therapy was scheduled during the later half of his English class, the 

speech and language therapist reinforced and reviewed his English assignments during the 

therapy sessions. 

(C)  Student remained in his tenth grade, general education English class from 

September until November 2004. He was able to read materials assigned for the class but 

his writing ability was below grade level. He was largely apathetic, did not complete 

assignments, and did not participate in class activities. During class, he often had his head 

down or slouched in his chair. When the teacher asked him to complete assignments or to 

participate in class, Student often replied in an aggressive tone and became defensive. On 

two occasions, he crumbled up class notes that were written by another pupil and given to 

him to help him in the English class. Student was earning an "F" when he left the general 

education English class in late November 2004. 

21. (A) On November 3, 2004, the District held an IEP meeting to discuss speech 

and language services and mental health counseling for Student. He had started speech 

and language therapy soon after the start of the school year. He was resistant to speech 

therapy; he did not like being pulled out from his photography class to receive the service. 

In October 2004, he had refused speech therapy on several occasions. The therapist 

discontinued therapy after Student laid his head on the desk and did not participate in the 

sessions. 
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(B)  The father participated in the November 2004 IEP meeting. The IEP team 

reviewed Student's present level of performance in several areas. For example, he displayed 

an articulation disorder, had difficulty with expression language activities, did not 

consistently demonstrate ability to write proper sentences and paragraphs, did not show 

consistent use of vowels, and did not verbalize an understanding of acceptable grade level 

skills or requirements. He also had difficulty with tasks requiring abstract reasoning skills 

and had very limited interest in communicating with adults and other pupils. In the social 

emotional area, Student was disrespectful to adults at school and did not comply with 

teacher directives to complete work. The IEP team found that his difficulties in writing and 

his need for competence resulted in low work production and low motivation to achieve. 

The IEP team determined that Student should continue to be placed in a general education 

class with DIS services in the form of once weekly speech and language therapy sessions 

and once or twice monthly counseling sessions. Accommodations and modifications similar 

to those in earlier IEPs were offered to Student. 

(C)  Based on his needs and an assessment by the speech and language specialist, 

the IEP team determined that Student required individual speech and language therapy 

with a speech and language pathologist once weekly for 30 minutes. The IEP team found 

that he had needs in semantics, pragmatics or problem-solving, and articulation. As an 

alternative, the father suggested that his son receive software for development of speech 

and language skills. However, the IEP team found that such software would not meet 

Student’s goals and objectives in speech and language development and instead offered 

individual speech and language therapy on Mondays in the latter half of his English class 

period. He was to receive vocabulary help during his character development and study skills 

sessions with the school psychologist intern in the first half of his English class period. The 

father was asked to let the District know within two days if he was going to consent to 

individual speech and language therapy for his son. 
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(D) The IEP team also discussed that Student had shown resistance to receiving 

speech and language support. The father indicated that his son was embarrassed about 

needing special education and a special education teacher shared a writing of the student 

in which he expressed his dislike of school. The English teacher indicated that, on two 

occasions, Student crumbled up notes given to him by another pupil and was often non- 

responsive in English class and in his tutoring sessions. The school psychologist also stated 

that she wanted to talk with Student’s private mental health provider because he was 

displaying symptoms of depression, lack of motivation, and/or anxiety and these 

psychological conditions may be contributing to poor academic performance. The school 

psychologist opined that Student needed a coordinated treatment plan. 

(E)  At the end of the meeting on November 3, 2004, the father represented that 

he would sign the IEP after reviewing it. However, the father later refused to give his 

consent to the District to implement this IEP and to the school psychologist to speak with 

his son’s therapists. 

22. For progress reporting period ending November 19, 2004, Student was 

attaining a “C” in integrated laboratory science, “D’s” in photography and algebra, and “F’s” 

in Cisco and English II. He last attended classes on November 22, 2004. 

23. On November 23, 2004, Dr. Diana Ketterman, school psychologist, informed 

the father that she was concerned about his son’s mental health. Dr. Ketterman indicated 

that, after a number of teachers stated Student was showing more signs of depression, she 

tested him on the Adolescent Scale and found his score was significant for depression. The 

school psychologist recommended that the father report the matter to his son's psychiatrist 

and she once again asked permission to speak to the psychiatrist regarding treatment. Dr. 

Ketterman opined that Student needed mental health assistance beyond what the District 

could provide and recommended that the father submit a AB3632 referral to the county for 

free mental health counseling. 
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24. (A) A few days later, on November 29, 2004, Student obtained a note from his 

psychiatrist ordering home instruction for him. Dr. Brown wrote that Student's "condition 

preclud[ed] participation and attendance in a regular school environment" and that he was 

"to receive home instruction 5 days a week until further notice." 

(B)  On November 30, 2004, the father forwarded the psychiatrist's note to the 

school district and asked when the District was going to provide his son with home 

instruction and speech and language services. The father requested an emergency IEP 

meeting by December 10th to discuss his son's schedule and progress, home instruction 

goals and objectives, arrangements for statewide testing, and transition "back into the 

regular school classes" at the high school. He also asked for an additional IEP meeting in 

January 2005 to discuss the spring semester. 

25. On December 10, 2004, the District convened an addendum IEP meeting. The 

IEP team discussed the school psychologist's recent test results showing Student had 

symptoms of depression and his teachers' concerns that he was more withdrawn at school. 

The IEP team recommended to the father that his son be referred to the county for mental 

health services and asked for his consent so that the school psychologist could talk with 

Student's psychiatrist and coordinate mental health counseling with his educational needs. 

The father declined the AB3632 referral and refused to sign the consent form because his 

son had been seeing a psychiatrist for five years and a psychologist for 10 years. The father 

did not see the AB3632 referral as being helpful for his son. Based on the note from the 

psychiatrist, the IEP team then placed Student on home instruction wherein he was to 

receive a total of five hours of instruction in algebra and language arts each school week at 

home from a teacher. Due to the upcoming winter school break, speech and language as 

well as counseling services were temporarily suspended until the next IEP meeting on 

January 10, 2005, when the IEP team planned to discuss the student’s return to the high 

school. The father took the IEP document home to review it. He later returned the 
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document to the District without consenting to its implementation and asking that DIS 

services resume on January 10, 2005. 

26. (A) On January 10, 2005, the District convened a conference with the father to 

review Student's home instruction and his transition back to the high school. The father 

reported that his son’s psychiatrist was recommending that Student remain on home 

instruction. The school psychologist informed the father of his son’s results on a depression 

scale administered to him earlier. Based, in part, on the psychiatrist’s recommendation, the 

IEP team decided that Student would continue with home instruction and have a goal of 

returning to the high school at the end of the six-week grading period of the spring 

semester. Home instruction included 90 minute sessions in math and science twice weekly. 

(B)  On January 10, 2005, the District agreed to resume speech and language 

therapy on February 6 and start once weekly counseling sessions with the school 

psychology. The school district offered to provide these DIS services at school. However, 

those services were not implemented because Student did not ever come to school to 

receive the services. About a week later, the home instruction teacher in English reported 

that Student’s attitude and performance were poor and he had poor participation and an 

“F” grade in home instruction English program. 

27. On February 9, 2005, the District convened an addendum IEP meeting to 

discuss Student’s poor first semester grades and his goals for the second semester. He 

remained on home instruction. For the first semester, he had incompletes in English and 

photography, failed science and CISCO, and attained a “C” and "A” in algebra and physical 

education, respectively. Student frequently failed to do homework for his courses. The IEP 

team informed the father that his son needed to complete assignments between home 

instruction sessions; the father said he would monitor his son’s behaviors and assignments. 

For second, or spring semester, the IEP team determined that Student would continue on 

home instruction and receive two hours of home instruction each week in science, algebra, 

and English. He was to complete physical education on an independent study basis. The IEP 
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team also discussed Student’s placement at the high school, independent study, or home 

instruction as well as his progress towards graduation and passage of the high school exit 

exam. Independent study was recommended since Student could earn credits in one hour 

increments. The father stated he would discuss his son’s educational placement with his 

therapist whom he was seeing once every three weeks. The IEP team scheduled a meeting 

for March 21 to discuss Student’s placement. Speech therapy or counseling was not 

discussed at the meeting on February 9, 2005. Student did not start speech or counseling 

services on February 6 because he did not come to school to receive the services. The 

father expressed concern about the lack of home instruction in science but did not 

complain about the absence of speech and counseling services. 

28. In March 2005, Student took the high school exit examination. He passed the 

mathematics portion but did not pass the English and language arts section of the 

examination. 

29. On March 21, 2005, the District held another IEP meeting to discuss Student’s 

grades and expectations. The father revealed that his son would not return to the high 

school until the summer. The IEP team decided to keep Student on home instruction in 

math, science, and English. He was to make up assignments in photography, complete fine 

arts class in the second semester, and drop web design. The IEP team also assigned a 

substitute teacher to coordinate his coursework. The father indicated he would talk with his 

son’s psychiatrist about whether the student should receive instruction on independent 

study or home instruction. Subsequently, the father returned the IEP document with 

notations, including the note that his son would “start going on Monday to independent 

study on 04/11/05” and receive “one-on-one instruction by a qualified instructor.” At the 

meeting on March 21, 2005, speech therapy and counseling were not discussed and the 

father did not complain about his son not receiving those DIS services. 

30. (A) On April 4, 2005, the District held an annual IEP for Student who 

continued to be eligible for special education due to a language and speech disorder and 
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specific learning disability. He had been receiving home instruction and/or independent 

study since December 2004. He had not been receiving speech therapy or counseling since 

he did not return to school to receive those services. In reviewing his present levels of 

performance, the IEP team found, in part, that Student’s disorders in attention and sensory 

motor skills, weaknesses in written expression and basic reading, and disorders in 

articulation and language adversely affected his academic achievement and progress. He 

was making progress on home instruction in algebra, science, and English but made no 

progress towards his goals, including grammar and mechanics of writing, language 

semantics and pragmatics, and articulation 

(B)  For the next school year (2005-2006), the IEP team determined that Student 

should return to the high school and general education classrooms to the fullest extent 

possible. The IEP team decided that he should be placed in general education classes with 

designated instruction and services in speech and language therapy and counseling. 

Student was to be pulled out from class once weekly for speech and language therapy. The 

IEP team decided Student should receive accommodations and modifications in the form of 

Franklin Speller and Alpha Smart computer programs to improve his writing and spelling 

and use collaboration and teacher scribe services as needed. The IEP team further 

determined that the accommodations and modifications would assist him to attain his long 

term goals of passing the high school exit exam and attaining his high school diploma. For 

the remainder of the spring semester, the IEP decided to provide Student with seven hours 

of tutoring in algebra, science, and English at the independent study center at the high 

school on Mondays and two hours of instruction at home on Wednesdays. 

(C)  The father participated in this annual IEP meeting and stated that his son was 

looking forward to returning to the high school in the fall. Regarding speech and language 

therapy, the father said he would talk to his son and have an answer for the IEP team 

whether his son would participate in those services. However, the father did not give his 

consent for implementation of the IEP, including DIS services in speech and counseling. 

Accessibility modified document



25 

31. (A) On May 18, 2005, the District held a conference with the father, special 

education director, Student's teacher, and the school principal to review Student's academic 

status. He was enrolled in home instruction or independent study and doing well in 

mathematics, science, photography, and web design. He was scheduled to complete 

coursework for the spring semester. However, he had received a "F" in English for the first 

or fall semester and the conference group decided to ask his English teacher to change his 

grade to a "D" based on his completion of notes on the book 'Fahrenheit 451". Student's 

father signed the Conference Verification form but requested that his son receive the 

FastForward program beginning in July 2005. 

(B)  On May 31, 2005, the District denied the father's request for FastForward 

program for the stated reason that the FastForward program was not a related service that 

could meet Student's IEP goals or his educational needs. The District special education 

coordinator indicated that FastForward was a reading improvement program and Student's 

needs were not in reading but in writing. According to the special education coordinator, 

Student's recent high school exit exam results showed that his reading skills were within the 

average range but his writing skills were well below the average range. The District was 

providing Student with assistive technology tools, including Dragon software, to help him in 

his writing, and suggested to the father that his son attend summer school where the 

District could concentrate on guiding his writing skills. 

2005-2006—ELEVENTH GRADE 

32. On August 10, 2005, Student’s psychiatrist wrote that he was “medically 

cleared to return to a regular institutional setting.” The father thought his son was looking 

forward to returning to high school from his home instruction or independent study 

program. On August 30, 2005, the District held an addendum IEP meeting to confirm 

Student’s return to high school and his class schedule for his junior year. He was enrolled in 
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general education classes and did not DIS services because his father did not consent to 

the April 2005 annual IEP. Student turned 16 years of age on that date. 

33. (A) On September 28, 2005, the District convened a meeting to update 

Student’s IEP since he was returning to high school from home instruction or independent 

study. The father participated in the meeting. The IEP team learned that Student had 

earned sufficient class credits to graduate on time; he had passed the math portion of the 

high school exit examination and needed to pass the language arts portion. After two 

weeks of school, he was earning “F’s” in modern American history and marine science. He 

had not completed any homework in marine science; his teacher had allowed him to use 

notes, books, and word processing to complete tests in collaboration class. The marine 

science teacher had another pupil take notes for Student and tried to make him sit up in 

class and not nod off. The teacher found he could perform the work but chose not to do so. 

In his general education English III, Student had not turned in one home work assignment 

and had failed two reading quizzes. His English teacher had given him the opportunity to 

make up homework assignments. The father reported that his son was trying very hard in 

all of his classes. 

(B)  On September 28, 2005, the IEP team also reviewed Student’s goals and 

objectives in grammar and mechanics of writing, manuscript forms, writing responses to 

literature, research and technology, language, and articulation. Due to his difficulty with 

written language, the IEP team discussed evaluating his progress in writing responses to 

literature through oral responses. The father said he would discuss it with his son. The 

father agreed to speech and language services as long as his son did not miss any of his 

academic classes. The father also requested that the District provide modifications and 

accommodations for his son and track his academic progress. 

(C)  Based on the discussion and reports during the meeting, the IEP team offered 

to continue to place Student in a general education classes and added resource specialist 

programming. Addressing the father’s concern that his son not miss any time in his 
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academic classes, the IEP team offered twice weekly 30 minute sessions in individual speech 

and language services and once or twice weekly 30 minute sessions in individual 

counseling, both of which were to occur during sixth period when he was a teaching 

assistant. With respect to modification and accommodations, the IEP team agreed that the 

District would provide another pupil to take notes on carbon paper for Student in English, 

history, and marine science; allow him to use the Franklin speller, Alpha Smart, computer, 

and collaboration; and have teachers act as scribes to transfer material to print for him. In 

order to track Student’s academic progress, the IEP team proposed that his general and 

special education teachers monitor his work assignments and progress and provide weekly 

reports to the IEP team and the parent. The father indicated he did not want his son to 

receive RSP programming in language arts and wanted to make sure that his general 

education English teacher was aware that he was a RSP pupil. The father did not give his 

consent to the school district to implement this September 2005 IEP. 

34. At the IEP meeting on September 28, 2005, the District also discussed and 

included a transition plan for Student in his IEP document. The IEP team advised the father 

that his son needed to pass the high school exit exam and meet the algebra I and all other 

coursework requirements to receive a high school diploma. He had passed the math 

portion of the high school exit exam, attained 125 class credits, and was on track to 

graduate. Goals and objectives were reviewed. On an Individual Transition Plan, the IEP 

team noted that Student desired to attend college and to achieve independent living and 

transportation arragnements. He had also completed vocational classes in woodworking, 

driver’s education, introductory computers, advanced woodworking, and photography. He 

was taking business math. In preparation for his transition from high school, Student was 

noted to have obtained asocial security card, identification card, birth certificate, and 

resume or portfolio. With respect to needed transition services, the IEP team determined 

that Student was to use his daily agenda to record all his assignments, projects, and tests; 

he was to use collaboration services for assistance. He was to work or volunteer with the 
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city recreation department to obtain community experience. To develop his job status and 

post-school living objectives, he was to apply to the city for a paid position. The father 

signed the Transition Plan, indicating his participation in the development of the transition 

plan. 

35. About a week later, on October 4, 2005, the District convened a follow-up IEP 

team meeting to review Student’s progress towards his goals and objectives in writing and 

grammar, to complete the September 2005 IEP, and to obtain the father’s consent to the 

September 2005 IEP. The father was advised that his son’s failure to do homework was 

affecting his grades in English, history, and marine science. The father wanted to know what 

the District was going to do help his son pass English. The IEP team discussed a RSP “pull- 

out” class for Student but the father asked whether the RSP class had the same pupils who 

allegedly harassed his son two years earlier. The father also requested complete 

assessments of his son; the District prepared an assessment plan that the father signed. The 

father asked for more time to review the IEP document. Subsequently, the father did not 

sign the September 2005 IEP or consent to services or RSP placement. 

36. On October 13, 2005, the high school grade level coordinator wrote to 

Student’s father that his son was failing marine science and English III and receiving a “D” in 

modern American history. The father was advised of the availability of homework 

monitoring, weekly progress reports, and peer tutoring for his son. 

37. On October 17, 2005, the IEP team met again to finalize the September 2005 

IEP. The IEP team agreed, in part, that Student should see the school psychologist weekly 

and receive notes for his marine science class. For English, the IEP team determined that he 

should be placed in independent study where he would receive individual instruction in 

English by a credentialed teacher twice weekly. He would work on his English assignments 

in a collaboration class three times weekly. The IEP team indicated that it would review 

Student’s progress in English in about five weeks. The IEP team also determined with the 

father’s assent that Student would not receive “pull-out” speech and language services for 
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the time being. The father indicated he would call the District within four days to indicate 

his decision whether to consent to the implementation of the September 2005 IEP as 

revised. However, the father did not consent to the changes in his son’s IEP. 

38. For the fall semester of the 2005-2006 school year, Student was enrolled in 

the general education eleventh grade English III class. His teacher found him to be a 

congenial pupil who did not disrupt the classroom but he refused to do any of the 

assignments, including journal writing and reading, or to participate in class. He stated he 

had nothing to write in his journal and avoided writing. He refused to do the homework 

and did not want to read. His teacher had to frequently tell him to sit up, for he had a habit 

of placing his head down on his desk. The teacher tried to help Student by explaining 

assignments to him, having him sit next to other pupils who could help him, modifying 

tests that were too difficult for him, allowing him to take tests in a collaboration class 

without time restraints, and giving him make-up work to improve his grade. The teacher 

also counseled Student on his apathy and lack of motivation. Student enjoyed the one to 

one attention and the teacher found that he could comprehend the reading materials, was 

capable of writing, and could perform the work although not at a high level. Nevertheless, 

Student failed the English class in the fall 2005 semester. On January 17, 2006, Student 

announced that his goal in the English class for the spring semester was to achieve a 

perfect zero. The teacher referred him to the counselor thereafter, adding that Student 

refused to complete his class assignment. Student would have benefited from a slower 

paced class for English. 

39. On November 28, 2005, Student’s case carrier advised the father by e-mail 

that his son was receiving “F’s” in marine science, modern American history, and English III 

at the 12-week progress reporting period and that, if his grades remained the same 

through the rest of the fall semester, he would not have enough class credits. The father 

was asked to consider returning his son to independent study where he was more 

successful in the past. 
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40. (A) Pursuant to the father’s request and the assessment plan that he signed 

on October 4, 2005, the District conducted a psychoeducational assessment and team 

evaluation of Student. The evaluation team consisted of school psychologist Dr. Ketterman, 

the case carrier, a language and speech specialist, a school nurse, an occupational therapist, 

and the father. On December 13, 2005, Dr. Ketterman prepared a written report. 

(B) The father requested updated testing because he said he wanted to know 

what were his son’s three major learning disabilities, what the District could do to meet his 

educational needs, and whether his mental health issues were interfering with his academic 

achievement and school interaction. The father requested re-testing of his son in all areas 

of suspected disability. The school psychologist noted that Student had received a “very 

thorough psychoevaluation in March 2004 as part of his state mandated triennial 

assessment.” The father was not specific as what tests he wanted performed, indicating he 

wanted “assurance that his son *was+ being provided a fair and appropriate education 

based on his unique identified needs.” 

(C) During testing sessions with Dr. Ketterman, Student was “somewhat 

cooperative”, for he wanted only to be tested during sixth period and for a very short time. 

He performed every subtest as fast as he could because he wanted to go talk with office 

staff or go on the internet at the school library. While undergoing tests of his academic 

achievement, Student was cooperative and paid attention but appeared preoccupied with 

the time that it took to complete the tests. 

(D) In performing the Cognitive Processing System tests, Dr. Ketterman found 

that Student showed significant delays in planning, attention, and successive processing. 

The sensory motor assessment indicated that he was delayed in his development. In the 

assessment of his social emotional area, Student had the same results that he had on the 

Behavior Assessment System for Children administered for the March 2004 triennial 

evaluation; he continued to have challenges at school in social emotional, organizational, 

and motivational areas. Under the Adolescent Test of Problem Solving, Student had scores 
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in the significantly impaired range for critical thinking skills. In the testing of his academic 

achievement, he read at the fourth grade level; he had significantly impaired reading and 

spelling abilities. He could read basic words and sentences but had difficult with more 

complex words and writing complete sentences. His math calculation skills were within the 

average range. A speech and language assessment showed that Student still qualified for 

services in this area. 

(E) In the December 2005 psychoeducational report, Dr. Ketterman and 

evaluation team did not find anything new or different from the March 2004 assessment. 

Student continued to have delays in reading, reading comprehension, and written 

expression that significantly affected his academic progress in all areas. Dr. Ketterman 

reconfirmed that Student had processing deficit, needed assistance to plan and stay on 

track, and performed better when he knew the goal. The evaluation team made similar 

recommendations for special education assistance, including support services in reading 

and writing, small group instruction, participation in the resource specialist program and 

support with school psychologist. The evaluation team noted again that Student’s social 

emotional issues affected his academic performance and he needed a treatment that 

included his private therapists and school counselors and county mental health support. 

Placement in a special education class, emotional support and counseling, and speech and 

language services were recommended once again. 

41. On December 8, 2005, the Request for Due Process was filed on behalf 

Student. On December 9, 2005, the District suspended Student from school for five days 

beginning on December 12 for misbehavior, disrupting school activities, and/or defying 

authority. He was to return to school on January 3, 2006. Student was suspended because 

his teacher asked him to leave the classroom numerous times but he refused and went 

towards the teacher in an apparently threatening manner. Student left the classroom only 

after the teacher said she was going to call security and other pupils came to her aid. 
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42. On December 9, 2005, Student underwent an OT evaluation by Gallagher 

Pediatric Therapy to determine if needed OT to access his educational program. He had 

previously received OT services to address his writing skills and was receiving 

accommodations and modifications to his curriculum to improve his writing and spelling. 

The occupational therapist noted Student was on independent study, failing three subjects, 

did not try to his school work, and chose not to use the Alpha Smart program. The therapist 

observed or tested Student’s sensory modulation and processing and administered tests of 

his fine motor skills and visual motor integration. The therapist concluded that Student had 

the underlying components of sensory processing, sensory modulation, developmental and 

neuromuscular coordination as well as the cognitive skills necessary for writing and did not 

recommend OT for him. The therapist observed that the primary area of concern was his 

lack of motivation to do academic work and engage in school activities. 

43. On February 2, 2006, student's psychiatrist, Dr. Brown, wrote that Student was 

still under his care and that his "medical condition preclude[d] attendance at his regular 

school setting. He [was] to be placed in a home hospital program effective today." 

44. On February 9, 2006, the District convened an IEP meeting to discuss the 

psychiatrist’s medical order for home hospital placement. The school psychologist renewed 

her request for the father’s consent to speak to the psychiatrist but the father did not give 

his consent. The father stated he did not know how long his son would have to be in home 

hospital placement. Based on the psychiatrist’s order and Student’s past responsiveness to 

individual instruction, the IEP team decided to place him on home hospital instruction for 

five hours per week. The IEP also recommended that Student attend an independent study 

center one morning each week to receive counseling and work on class credits. He needed 

to make up credits in English and history from the fall semester and science and to pass the 

English portion of the high school exit examination. The father indicated he would think 

about the recommendation. An IEP meeting was scheduled for February 13 to discuss the 

results of the December 2005 evaluation. 
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45. For the spring 2006 semester, Student continued to be enrolled in home 

instruction and/or independent study with the school district. He received five hours weekly 

in home instruction and did not receive any speech and language therapy. Since November 

2005, he has had a part-time job with the city recreation department. Student testified that, 

for the summer of 2006, he probably needed to attend the summer session and was 

planning to go to Japan with a student group. For the fall 2006 semester, which would be 

the start of his senior year, Student indicated he wanted to attend the high school for social 

reasons. He testified that he thought he needed speech therapy and counseling. After high 

school, Student wants to attend college and study business and technology. 

OTHER ASSESSMENTS 

46. On four occasions in March and April 2006, Student was examined at the Eye 

Care Center at the Southern California College of Optometry for a comprehensive vision 

examination, visual efficiency evaluation, visual information processing evaluation, and a 

dyslexia determination test. Student reported, in part, tired eyes and headaches when 

reading, loss of concentration and memory when reading, and difficulties in reading. On 

examination, Student’s eye health and visual acuity were normal. While his eye tracking and 

teaming were adequate, his eye focusing was inadequate which may cause him to have 

eyestrain and headaches when reading. Student exhibited deficiencies in visual efficiency 

and visual information processing which contribute to slow reading, avoidance of reading, 

and a having a short attention span. His results on the dyslexia testing suggested that he 

had deficiencies in sight word recognition, in using visual recall to spell words, and in 

spelling words by syllabication, phonics, and structural analysis. The results were suggestive 

of a severe dyslexia pattern. A visual therapy program, reading therapy using a multi- 

sensory approach, reading tutorials, and vision and posture techniques for studying were 

recommended for Student. 
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47. (A) On April 11, 2006, Student was referred by the District to the Assistive 

Technology Exchange Center to see what assistive technology would be suitable to help 

him with his difficulty with written expression and spelling. Student was receiving home 

instruction and reported to have difficulties in speech articulation, intelligibility, semantics, 

pragmatics, and morphology. Student indicated he stopped going to speech therapy about 

a year ago because it was “a waste of time.” 

(B)  During the assistive technology evaluation, Student resisted speaking and 

often mumbled. His speech was clear, however, when expressing displeasure or impatience. 

His attitude was uncooperative, disinterested, and stressed. He did not want to be present 

for the evaluation and denied having difficulties with writing and spelling. He declined to 

try any assistive technology software and, instead, the software was shown to his father. 

Due to Student’s unwillingness to try any assistive technology software, no 

recommendation for the use of such technology was made for him. At the hearing, Student 

explained that at the time of this evaluation he was tired and sleepy and also in a hurry 

because he had to get to his job at the city recreation department. 

48. (A) In November 2005, Student was referred by his counsel to Robert J. Rome, 

Ph.D., of Encino for a psychological-educational evaluation. The referral was made after the 

father had already asked the District in October 2005 to conduct another assessment of his 

son. As described hereinabove, the District performed the requested assessment in 

December 2005. The father did not express any disagreement with the District’s December 

2005 assessment or any other assessment. 

(B)  Dr. Rome interviewed Student and his father, reviewed previous reports and 

tests, made clinical observations, and administered a number of psychological tests. Under 

the Wechsler Intelligence Scale, Student displayed average intelligence. Results from the 

Woodcock-Johnson tests of achievement indicated he had weaknesses in several areas 

including written language and basic reading skills. In the Test of Adolescence and Adult 

Language, he showed weaknesses in receptive and expressive language areas. Student 
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showed academic achievement in the low end of the average range. As such, Dr. Rome’s 

findings were similar to those made by the District in its assessments 

(C)  Under his diagnostic impressions, Dr. Rome concluded that Student had an 

adjustment disorder, reading disorder, and disorder of written expression. The psychologist 

reached the impression that school and his failures in school and academics were stressors 

in Student’s life. He found that Student showed anxious and depressed reactions to school 

but had a good self concept and decreased emotional and behavioral reactions outside of 

school. 

(D) Based on his evaluation, Dr. Rome offered several recommendations for 

Student. He suggested educational therapy from a non-public agency because he believed 

that Student received no direct supports or assistance from the school district in many 

academic areas including reading and writing. Dr. Rome suggested DIS counseling to 

address his emotional and behavioral reactions and stressors related to school. He 

recommended speech and language therapy, an auditory and vision evaluations, 

occupational therapy to address his writing method, and assistive technology supports. Dr. 

Rome also recommended compensatory education for the alleged lack of appropriate 

services over the past number of years. 

(E)  In testifying in this matter, Dr. Rome stated that the Fast ForWord program 

was a phonetic reading program for pupils with typical reading problems. He opined that, 

while this program could help Student, he had an unusual configuration of reading scores 

and needed a more individual approach to solve his reading problem. Dr. Rome stated that 

Student was not a good candidate for the Fast ForWord program. 

49. (A) Dr. Rome’s recommendations were not persuasive. He was not altogether 

familiar with Student’s educational history. Dr. Rome wrote that the father “has made 

repeated requests for an increase in services” as well as “requests for increased time in 

treatment in individual area” and “for specific programs of treatment.” He did not 

acknowledge that the father has continually declined the District’s offers of special 
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education and DIS services in speech and counseling and refused AB3632 referrals for 

mental health counseling. Dr. Rome did not seem aware that, while Student was receiving 

home instruction, the father did not have his son go to high school to receive speech 

therapy and, at one IEP, asked for software for speech in lieu of individual speech therapy. 

Dr. Rome did not mention that, throughout high school, the father did not agree to have 

his son enrolled in RSP English classes, insisting on placement in a general education 

English or asking for individual tutoring. 

(B)  Dr. Rome’s statement that Student did not receive direct supports or 

assistance in reading and writing or appropriate services for years from the school district 

was contradicted by the evidence of the District’s efforts to help Student, including RSP 

programming, tutoring, and accommodations. His recommendation that Student would 

benefit from DIS counseling fails to take into account the father’s repeated refusals to sign 

IEP’s in which counseling was offered or to accept referrals for county mental health 

counseling. Dr. Rome’s determinations that there was a significant discrepancy between 

Student’s intellectual functioning and his academic skills and achievement, that his work 

was tedious and sloppy, and that he had significant weaknesses in reading and writing were 

already established by the District’s assessments, the IEP team meetings and documents, 

and his teachers’ evaluations. 

(C)  In addition, Dr. Rome made speculative statements. In his report, he opined 

that Student’s move to the school district in eighth grade may have contributed to his 

difficulties in high school. Dr. Rome also speculated that Student had problems related to 

his parents’ divorce and changes therefrom. No evidence was presented that showed Dr. 

Rome obtained any information to support these conclusions. Among his 

recommendations, he stated that Student continued to have “auditory perceptual and 

processing difficulties” which limit his academic and language functioning. While he 

administered the Wepman Auditory Discrimination Test, it was not established that Dr. 
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Rome was qualified to make any recommendations in the auditory area based on this 

single test. 

50. In his evaluation and testimony, Dr. Rome did observe that Student harbored 

disdain and “marked anger” about all aspects of school and has had these negative and 

angry feelings about school for a number of years. When asked about school, he became 

hostile, sarcastic, and irritable. Student stated that he received very little help from school 

and that school was of “no help” to him. He criticized his teachers, saying that most of them 

were annoying. Student dismissed his fellow pupils and indicated he had no need for pupils 

or teachers at school. In his view, the most annoying teachers were those that were made 

to do “all kinds of thing*s+” by his father. He blamed his father, in part, for the teachers’ 

reactions to him because he continued to pursue help for him at school. As Dr. Rome 

testified, Student was angry that his teachers singled him out at school by providing 

accommodations and angry that his father continued to seek special education services for 

him. Student discounts the importance of school, is embarrassed about his academics, and 

does not believe special education is for him. 

Based on the foregoing findings of fact, the Administrative Law Judge makes the 

following determination of issues: 

LEGAL CONCLUSIONS 

1. Under the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) and state 

law, pupils with disabilities have the right to a free appropriate public education (FAPE). (20 

U.S.C. §1400 (2005); Ed. Code §56000 et seq.) The term “free appropriate public education” 

means special education and related services that are available to the pupil at not cost to 

the parents, meet state educational standards, and conform to the pupil's individualized 

education program. (20 U.S.C. §1401(9).) This right to FAPE arises only after a pupil has 

been assessed and determined to be eligible for special education. 
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In Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District v. Rowley, 485 

U.S. 176, 200-202, 102 S.Ct. 3034 (1982), the United States Supreme Court addressed the 

level of instruction and services that must be provided to a pupil with disabilities to satisfy 

the requirements of the IDEA. The Rowley Court determined that a pupil's IEP must be 

reasonably calculated to provide the pupil with some educational benefit but that the IDEA 

does not require school districts to provide special education pupils with the best 

education available or to provide instruction or services that maximize a pupil's abilities. 

(Ibid. at pp. 198 - 200). Finding that Congress included no language suggesting an 

obligation to maximize the potential of disabled pupils, the Rowley Court stated school 

districts are required to provide only a "basic floor of opportunity" that consists of access to 

specialized instructional and related services which are individually designed to provide 

educational benefit to the pupil. (Ibid. at p. 201). 

In resolving the question of whether a school district has offered a FAPE, the focus is 

on the adequacy of the school district’s proposed program. (See Gregory K.. v. Longview 

School District, 811 F.2d. 1307 (9th Cir. 1987).) A school district is not required to place a 

student in a program preferred by a parent, even if that program will result in greater 

educational benefit to the student. (Ibid.) The school district’s proposed educational 

program must be evaluated in light of the information available to the school district and 

what was objectively reasonable when the program was developed. (Adams v. State of 

Oregon (9th Cir. 1999) 195 F.3d 1141, 1149.) For a school district's offer of special 

educational services to a disabled pupil to constitute a free appropriate public education 

under the IDEA and the Rowley case, a school district's offer of educational services and/or 

placement must have been designed to meet the student’s unique needs, comports with 

the student’s IEP, and was reasonably calculated to provide the pupil with some educational 

benefit. 

The United States Supreme Court in the Rowley case also recognized the importance 

of adhering to the procedural requirements and protections afforded by the IDEA, which 
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are designed to ensure effective parental participation in the IEP process and careful 

consideration of a pupil’s educational needs. (See 20 U.S.C. §1400 et seq.) The United States 

Supreme Court noted in Rowley that, “Congress placed every bit as much emphasis upon 

compliance with procedures giving parents and guardians a large measure of participation” 

at every step “as it did upon the measurement of the resulting IEP.” (Board of Education of 

the Hendrick Hudson Central School District v. Rowley, supra, 458 U.S. at pp. 205-206.) For 

example, one of the rights afforded to parents is the right to be provided a formal written 

offer of placement by the school district. (Union School District v. Smith, 157 F.3d 1519 (9th 

Cir. 1994); cert. denied 115 S. Ct. 428 (1994).) In the Union case, the Circuit Court of Appeals 

noted that one of the reasons for requiring a formal written offer is to provide parents with 

the opportunity to decide whether the offer of placement is appropriate and whether or 

not to accept the offer. (Ibid.) 

However, not every procedural flaw constitutes a denial of a FAPE. Procedural flaws 

must result in the loss of educational opportunity to the student, or seriously infringe on 

the parent’s participation in the IEP process, to constitute a denial of a FAPE. (Board of 

Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District v. Rowley, supra, 458 U.S. at pp. 

206-07; see also Amanda J. v. Clark County School District, 267 F.3d 877 (9th Cir. 2001).) 

Procedural violations which do not result in a loss of educational opportunity or which do 

not constitute a serious infringement of parents’ opportunity to participate in the IEP 

formulation process are insufficient to support a finding that a pupil has been denied a free 

appropriate public education. (W.G. v. Board of Trustees of Target Range School District No. 

23, 960 F.2d 1479, 1482 (9th Cir. 1992).) 

In general, a pupil shall be referred for special education instruction and services 

only after the resources of the regular education program have been considered and, 

where appropriate, utilized. (Ed. Code §56303.) All referrals for special education and 

related services shall initiate the assessment process and shall be documented. (Cal. Code 

Regs., tit. 5, §3021, subd. (a).) All school staff referrals shall be written and include a brief 
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reason for the referral and documentation of the resources of the regular education 

program that have been considered, modified, and when appropriate, the results of 

intervention. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, §3021, subd. (b).) Upon initial referral for assessment, 

parents shall be given a copy of their rights and procedural safeguards. (Ed. Code §56301, 

subd. (c).) Education Code section 56320 provides that an individual assessment of the 

pupil’s educational needs must be conducted by qualified persons before any action can be 

taken with respect to the initial placement of an individual with exceptional needs in a 

special education instruction. 

A school district shall develop a proposed assessment plan within 15 calendar days 

of referral for assessment, unless the parent agrees in writing to an extension (Ed. Code 

§56043, subd. (a)), and shall attach a copy of the notice of parent’s rights to the assessment 

plan (Ed. Code §56321, subd. (a)). A parent shall have at least 15 calendar days from the 

receipt of the proposed assessment plan to arrive at a decision whether to consent to the 

assessment plan. (Ed. Code §56403, subd. (b).) A school district cannot conduct an 

assessment until it obtains the written consent of the parent prior to the assessment (unless 

the school district prevails in a due process hearing relating to the assessment); assessment 

may begin immediately upon receipt of the consent. (Ed. Code §56321, subd. (c).) 

Thereafter, a school district must develop an individualized education program required as 

a result of an assessment no later than 50 calendar days from the date of receipt of the 

parent’s written consent to assessment, unless the parent agrees in writing to an extension. 

(Ed. Code §56043, subd. (d).) 

2. Issue No. 1--In the Request for Due Process Hearing and Closing Brief, 

Student asserts that the District denied him a free appropriate public education because it 

failed to assess him in all areas of suspected disability. Student asserts that the District did 

not assess or failed to timely assess him for depression and mental health issues, hearing 

and vision, and fine motor skills with respect to his writing. Student’s assertions are not 

supported by the evidence. 
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Federal law provides that a school district must reevaluate a child with a disability if 

it determines that the educational or related services needs of the child warrant a 

reevaluation. (20 U.S.C. δ1414(a)(2)(A).) A reevaluation must occur at least once every three 

years unless the parent and school district agree that it is not necessary. (20 U.S.C. 

δ1415(a)(2)(B).) State law adds that a reassessment of a pupil shall be conducted at least 

once every three years or more frequently, if conditions warrant a reassessment, or if the 

pupil's parent or teacher requests a reassessment and a new IEP to be developed. (Ed. Code 

δ56381, subd. (a).) 

In conducting an evaluation, the school district must use a variety of assessment 

tools and strategies to gather relevant functional, developmental, and academic 

information that may assist in determining the content of the child's individualized 

education program. (20 U.S.C. δ1414(b)(2)(A).) No single assessment measure or procedure 

is used as the sole criterion for determining an appropriate educational program for a child. 

(20 U.S.C. δ1414(b)(2)(B); Ed. Code δ56320, subd. (e).) The assessment and other evaluation 

materials used to assess a child must be administered by trained and knowledgeable 

personnel and the child must be assessed in all areas related to his or her suspected 

disability including, in part and if appropriate, health and development, communicative 

status, academic performance, motor abilities, and social and emotional status. (20 U.S.C. 

δ1414(b)(3); 34 C.F.R. δ300.532; Ed. Code δ56320, subd. (f).) 

In this matter, the District properly evaluated Student in the areas that Student 

claims were not assessed. The District was aware, and the Student did not dispute, that he 

had mental health and/or depression issues. The District has attempted numerous times to 

speak with Student’s therapist or psychiatrist, to refer Student for county mental health 

counseling, and to create a program of treatment that incorporated both the private 

therapists and school counselors. At the December 2003 IEP meeting where 

accommodations were discussed for Student who had been moved to a general education 

English class, the IEP team asked the father to allow the school psychologist to speak with 
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his son’s therapist. In the Psychoeducational Assessment in March 2004, the school 

psychologist reviewed Student’s history of mental health concerns and depression, cited his 

stress and depression at school, and recommended counseling and a referral for county 

mental health counseling. In October and December of the 2004-2005 school year, the 

school psychologist and teachers became more concerned with Student’s mental health; 

the school psychologist screened him for depression, made another recommendation for 

county mental health counseling, and asked the father again to speak with the private 

therapist. In the 2005-2006 school year, the District conducted another psychoeducational 

evaluation. As such, Student has been assessed and given recommendations for mental 

health counseling and depression within the requirements of special education law. 

With respect to other suspected disabilities, in December 2005, Student underwent 

an OT evaluation which, in part, tested his fine motor and visual motor integration and 

coordination skills necessary for handwriting. He was found to have the underlying 

components and cognitive skills for writing; OT was not recommended. After the filing of 

the due process request, in March and April 2006, Student received an assessment of his 

vision. Regarding hearing, it was not established by the report or testimony of Dr. Rome 

that Student needed a hearing assessment. There was no probative evidence in the record 

that Student has had any hearing problems in the classroom or at school. The occupational 

therapist noted that Student did not have any difficulty following verbal instructions. 

Based on Findings 12 – 15, 21, 23, and 40 above, Student was appropriately assessed 

in all areas of suspected disability. His needs have been identified and he has been offered 

services in mental health but the father has continuously declined the District’s referrals for 

county mental health counseling as well as offers for school group counseling and 

coordinated services with private therapists. 

3. Issue No. 2--Here, Student contends that the District failed to fulfill its child 

find obligations by not properly assessing and providing services to him for depression. 

Student argues that, after the March 2004 psycho-educational evaluation, the District 
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conducted only a screening in November 2004 and should have undertaken “more in depth 

formal evaluations.” According to Student, the failure to conduct assessments and provide 

services for depression shows that the District did not take his “emotional/social concerns 

seriously.” Student’s contentions do not have merit. 

In general, both the IDEA and state law impose upon each school district the duty to 

actively and systematically identify, locate, and assess all children with disabilities or 

exceptional needs who require special education and related services, including children 

with disabilities who may be homeless or migrant, wards of the state, or not enrolled in a 

public school program. (20 U.S.C. §1412(a) (3); 34 C.F.R. §300.125; Ed. Code §§56300, 56301.) 

This statutory obligation of a school district to identify, locate, and assess children with 

disabilities is often referred to as the “child find” or “seek and serve” obligation and applies 

also to children who are suspected of having a disability and in need of special education 

even though they may be advancing from grade level to grade level. (34 C.F.R. 

§300.125(a)(2).) A state must ensure that these child find duties are implemented by public 

agencies throughout its jurisdiction as part of its general obligation to ensure that FAPE is 

available to all children with disabilities who reside within the state. (34 C.F.R. 

§300.300(a)(2).) 

For this issue, Student ostensibly complains that the District failed to identify his 

depression by conducting an appropriate assessment and contends that, if the school 

district had done so, then he could have received proper services at an earlier date and not 

have had “to resort to home schooling” for “psychological issues.” Student’s argument 

ignores the fact that the District did, in fact, perform proper assessments, identified his 

social and emotional problems, and offered proper interventions. 

In December 2003, when Student’s therapist recommended that he be removed 

from his RSP English class due to reports of bullying, the school psychologist asked to 

speak with Student’s psychiatrist or therapist. The father did not sign the release. In March 

2004, the school psychologist conducted a psychoeducational assessment in which she 
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recounted Student’s school history for depression and administered tests including the 

BASC. The school psychologist found significant concerns for Student for anxiety and 

depression. At the April 2004 IEP meeting, the school psychologist reiterated her 

recommendations for DIS counseling and an AB3632 mental health referral. The father 

declined implementation of DIS counseling, RSP programming, and other special education 

services offered by the District. In the following school year (2004-2005), Student remained 

in general education English because the father would not agree to RSP programming. He 

did poorly in general education English even with individual tutoring and assistance 

provided to him by the District. The father again declined offers of counseling and county 

mental health referral. 

At the annual IEP meeting in November 2004, the school psychologist noted Student 

was showing signs of depression and needed a treatment plan coordinated with his private 

therapists. The father again declined school counseling and county mental health referral 

and did not consent to the school psychologist speaking with the private therapists. In 

November 2004, after teachers stated Student was more depressed in class, the school 

psychologist tested him and found he had had significant scores for depression on the 

Adolescent Scale. The school psychologist told the father his son needed mental health 

help beyond what the District could provide and recommended again the county mental 

health referral. That month, Student was placed on home instruction pursuant to his 

psychiatrist’s medical order. In April 2004, the father once more declined the District’s offer 

of AB3632 counseling and, by refusing to sign the IEP, declined the DIS counseling services 

for his son. 

Based on Findings 12 – 15, 21, 23, and 40 above, the District properly assessed 

Student when he was a freshman in March 2004 and identified him as a pupil with 

significant signs of anxiety and depression. Over the course of the next eight months, the 

District continued to recommend RSP programming for English, DIS counseling, and an 

AB3632 mental health referral. The District also continued to ask the father for permission 
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to speak with Student’s therapists to create a coordinated treatment plan. The District 

developed and offered these services to treat Student’s anxiety and depression but could 

not implement these services without the father’s agreement. Moreover, Student has not 

suggested any other specific services that should have been offered to him for his social 

emotional issues. Student’s own expert witness did not recommend anything more than 

“treatment in the community” or private therapy and DIS counseling at school. The District 

attempted to meet Student’s unique needs in the social emotional area but was stymied by 

the father’s decisions for his own son. 

4. Issue No. 3--Student contends that the District failed to provide an 

appropriate transition plan. The IDEA requires that, no later than the first IEP to be in effect 

when a child is 16 years old and annually thereafter, his or her IEP include appropriate 

measurable postsecondary goals based upon age appropriate transition assessments 

related to training, education, employment, and, if appropriate, independent living skills. 

The IEP must also contain transition services, including courses of study, needed to assist 

the child in reaching those goals. 

Under state law, Education Code section 56345.1, subdivision (b), provides that, 

beginning at 16 or younger and annually thereafter, a statement of needed transition 

services must be included in a pupil’s IEP. Transition services mean a coordinated set of 

activities that is designed within an outcome-oriented process and promotes movement 

from school to post school activities, including postsecondary education and employment. 

(Ed. Code §36314.1, subd. (c)(1).) Transition services must be based on the individual pupil’s 

needs and includes instruction, related services, community experiences, and development 

of employment, and other post-school adult living objectives. (Ed. Code §56345.1, subds. 

(c)(2) and (3).) 

In the present matter, Student became 16 years old on August 30, 2005. On 

September 28, 2005, the District held an IEP meeting at which the IEP team developed an 

Individual Transition Plan for him and included the plan as part of the IEP document. As 

Accessibility modified document



46 

part of the IEP, the transition plan was based on Student’s needs and included statements 

about what he needed to do to graduate from high school in terms of the high school exit 

exam and course credits. The transition plan noted the goal of Student to attend college, 

recited completed vocational classes, listed documents needed to become independent, 

and indicated use of a daily agenda and collaboration to complete his high school work. In 

addition, the transition plan stated that Student would obtain community and job 

experience by working for the city recreation department. In his Due Process Request and 

Closing Brief, Student has argued that the Transition Plan was inappropriate or inadequate. 

However, because he proffered no evidence to support his argument, such as expert 

testimony or a proposed transition plan, Student’s argument was not persuasive. Based on 

Findings 33 – 34 above, the District prepared an appropriate transition plan for Student. 

5. Issue No. 4--Procedural violations may warrant relief under the IDEA if the 

procedural violations deprived the pupil of an educational opportunity, significantly infringe 

upon the parents ' opportunity to participate in the formulation of the IEP, or impeded the 

child's right to a free appropriate public education. (20 U.S.C. δ1415(f)(3)(D)(ii); W.G. v. 

Board of Trustees of Target Range School District, No. 23 (9th Cir. 1992) 960 F.2d 1479, 

1484.) Student did not meet his burden of proof on this issue. 

First, Student contends that the District violated the parent’s procedural rights by 

failing to give prior written notice to the father that it was discontinuing or refusing speech 

therapy, counseling, and the FastForward program. A school district is required to provide 

prior written notice to the parents of a child with a disability when it proposes to initiate or 

change, or refuses to initiate or change, the identification, evaluation, or educational 

placement of the child or the provision of a free appropriate public education to the child. 

(20 U.S.C. δ1415(b)(3).) 

In this due process matter, Student complains that, before winter break in December 

2005, the District discontinued his speech therapy and counseling when he was placed on 

home instruction in accordance with his psychiatrist’s medical order. The change to home 
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instruction with its concomitant effect on speech and counseling services may be 

considered to have been a change in educational placement. Student contends that the 

father wanted these services to resume in January 2006 after winter holiday but the District 

failed to provide the services for the remainder of the school year. 

Student’s complaint that speech therapy and counseling were terminated without 

prior written notice is not supported by the evidence, based on Findings 25 -27 and 30 

above. In December 2004, the District gave prior written notice when changing Student’s 

placement to home instruction that speech and counseling services were temporarily 

suspended during the winter break. Student’s placement was changed in accordance with 

the father’s wishes. The next month, in January 2005, the father wanted his son to continue 

on home instruction and the IEP team advised him in writing that speech and counseling 

were to resume when Student returned to the high school. Speech and counseling were to 

be provided but only at the school setting and Student did not return to school to receive 

services. In February and March 2005, the father did not complain about the lack of these 

DIS services. And following the annual IEP meeting in April 2005, the father declined the 

services, indicating that his son did not want to participate in speech and counseling 

services. As such, at all times relevant herein, the District provided prior written notices to 

the father in IEP documents that speech and counseling could resume that spring 2005 

semester but at the school setting. The District did not promise that those services could be 

delivered at Student’s home and the father did not ask for those services to be provided at 

his home. Moreover, the father continued to participate in his son’s IEP meetings for the 

remainder of the spring 2005 semester. The evidence demonstrates that neither the father 

nor Student really wanted speech therapy or counseling. 

In May 2005, the father requested the FastForward reading program for his son. By a 

letter addressed to the father, the special education coordinator denied the program on the 

basis that the program was not a related service that could not meet Student’s goals or 

needs. Here, the denial of the reading program did not constitute the refusal to initiate or 
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change the identification, evaluation, or educational placement of Student or the provision 

of FAPE to him. As such, the District was not required to provide prior written notice to the 

father of the denial of the reading program for his son. Even if the denial were deemed to 

require prior written notice and the notice found insufficient, Student did not show how 

this procedural flaw infringed upon the father’s opportunity to participate in the IEP process 

or impeded Student’s right to FAPE. Student’s own expert witness did not endorse the 

reading program for him. 

Second, Student asserts that the District failed to convene an IEP meeting or develop 

an IEP within 60 days of the parent’s consent for an assessment. Education Code section 

56043 provides that a school district must develop a proposed assessment plan within 15 

days of referral for assessment, a parent shall have at least 15 days from the receipt of the 

proposed assessment plan to arrive at a decision, and the school district must develop an 

IEP required as result of assessment within 50 days from the date of its receipt of the 

parent’s written consent for assessment. 

Here, the father requested complete reassessments of his son and gave his consent 

to the assessment plan on October 4, 2005. The school psychologist completed the 

evaluation in December 2005. The student was suspended in December 2005 and his 

psychiatrist ordered home instruction for him in February 2006. That month, the District 

held an IEP meeting to discuss Student’s return to home instruction and scheduled another 

IEP to discuss the recent evaluation. In the meantime, Student obtained an independent 

assessment in November 2005 and filed his due process request in December 2005. While 

the District did not hold a timely IEP meeting to discuss the school psychologist’s 

evaluation, Student did not demonstrate that how this procedural flaw resulted in any loss 

of educational opportunity or seriously infringed on the parent’s participation in the IEP 

process. The parent obtained his own independent assessment and Student was placed on 

home instruction as requested by the parent and the psychiatrist. The findings of the 

independent assessment were similar to those of the District evaluation. Furthermore, the 
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father has been able to participate and advocate for his son in the IEP process. The 

procedural flaw in not holding a timely IEP meeting to discuss the school psychologist’s 

evaluation cannot be found to have resulted in the denial of FAPE, based on Findings 40 – 

41 and 43 – 44 above. 

Third, Student claims that the District failed to convene an IEP meeting within 30 

days of the parent’s written request in February 2005 as required by Education Code 

section 56343.5. The problem with this claim is that Student relies upon e-mail 

communications contained within the District’s Exhibit 22 that was withdrawn and not 

admitted into evidence. Thus, there is no probative evidence to support Student’s claim 

that the District failed to convene a timely IEP meeting in March 2005. The evidence does 

show that the District held frequent IEP meetings for Student and the father in the past 

three years. 

Fourth, Student claims that the District failed to conduct a timely triennial 

assessment. Student’s claim is not borne out by the evidence, based on Findings 3 and 12 - 

15 above. The September 2002 IEP showed that Student received a triennial review in 

September 2001 when he was in seventh grade and was entitled to his next triennial review 

in September 2004. The District conducted a triennial evaluation and review of Student’s 

needs in March 2004 when he was in ninth grade. The District’s triennial assessment was 

timely. 

6. Issue No. 5--In his Due Process Request and Closing Brief, Student contends 

that he was denied a FAPE because the District did not provide speech and language 

services and counseling after December 2004 and therefore failed to provide special 

education and related services that conformed or comported with his IEP. Student bears 

the burden of proving his contentions in this due process hearing. (Schaffer v. Weast (2005) 

126 S.Ct. 528.) He has not met that burden. 

At the triennial IEP meeting in April 2004, when Student was in ninth grade, the 

District offered once weekly speech and language therapy and twice monthly counseling in 
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addition to RSP programming, classroom modifications and accommodations, including 

tutors, and an AB3632 county mental health referral. The father did not give his consent to 

the triennial IEP and the District could not implement the DIS and other services. After 

Student started tenth grade in September 2004, the father relented and agreed to speech 

and language for his son but did not agree to counseling or to allow the school 

psychologist to speak to his son’s private therapists. During fall 2004 semester, Student did 

poorly in general education English and was resistant to speech therapy. He refused speech 

therapy on a number of sessions and, in November 2004, the therapist discontinued speech 

therapy due to his lack of cooperation. 

At the November 2004 IEP meeting, the District again offered individual speech and 

language therapy and counseling but the father did not consent to implementation of the 

IEP. Student’s resistance to speech therapy and dislike of school was discussed; the father 

indicated his son was embarrassed about needing special education. By November 2004, 

Student had an “F” in general education English and had become withdrawn and 

depressed. The school psychologist had recommended a referral for county mental health 

counseling and coordinated treatment plan; she asked to speak to Student’s private 

therapist. Student stopped going to school on November 22, 2004. 

On December 10, 2004, the District placed Student on home instruction due to the 

medical order of his psychiatrist who said Student’s condition precluded his attendance at a 

regular school. The IEP team discussed Student’s screening for and reports of depression 

and, because his mental health issued were affecting his academic performance, 

recommended a referral for county mental health counseling and asked for permission for 

the school psychologist to speak to Student’s private therapist to coordinate treatment. The 

father declined. Speech and counseling services were temporarily suspended due to winter 

break; discussion of speech and counseling as well as educational services for the spring 

semester were postponed till the next IEP meeting on January 10, 2005. The father did not 

consent to the IEP, noting that he wanted DIS services to resume on January 10, 2005. 
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On January 10, 2005, the father reported that the psychiatrist had recommended 

that his son remain on home instruction. The District continued home instruction for 

Student and set a goal for him to return to school in about six weeks. The District advised 

the father that speech and counseling services would resume for his son on February 6 at 

the school site. Student did not resume speech or counseling services because he did not 

return to school. At subsequent IEP meetings on February 9 and March 21, 2005, speech 

and counseling services were not discussed and the father did not complain about his son 

not receiving those services at home. At the annual IEP meeting on April 4, 2005, the father 

declined to give consent to implementation of the IEP which contemplated Student’s return 

to the high school with DIS services in speech therapy and counseling. At IEP meetings in 

the student’s junior year in September and October 2005, the father again declined the 

District’s offers of individual speech and counseling. As requested by the father, the District 

even agreed to provide those DIS services during his son’s sixth period when he was a 

teaching assistant so that he would not miss any academic classes but to no avail. 

 

Based on Findings 5, 7, and 12 – 44 above, the preponderance of evidence in this 

due process matter established that Student clearly required speech and counseling 

services to access his curriculum and District consistently offered those services to him in 

IEP’s during the three school years at issue. Just as consistently, the father did not consent 

to the underlying IEP’s offering the services and declined the services. The District did 

temporarily suspend services when Student was placed on home instruction but offered to 

provide the services at school. However, he did not come to school to take advantage of 

the services and the father did not ask for the services. Even when speech services were re- 

commenced in September 2005, Student missed sessions and did not cooperate, resulting 

in the discontinuance of the service. The District’s offers of speech and counseling services 

conformed to his IEP’s in terms of his identified deficits and needs. The fact that Student 
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declined or elected not to receive the services did not mean that the offered services were 

not FAPE. 

7. Issue No. 6--On substantive grounds, Student contends the student was 

denied a FAPE during his three years in high school from September 2003 through 

December 2005 because the District failed to develop or offer educational programs that 

were designed to meet his unique needs or reasonably calculated to provide educational 

benefit. Student’s contentions were not borne out by the probative evidence, based on 

Findings 5, 7, and 12 – 44 above. 

More specifically, during the 2003-2004 school year, Student argues that the District 

“removed” him from his special education English class and “simply placed” him in a 

general education English without a special education aide. Student avers that the school 

district did not consider keeping him in special education with the help of an aide or 

placing him in an alternative special education class. Student also argues that the District 

failed to give counseling to him so that he could cope with the trauma of bullying. 

Here, Student started high school in general education classes with placement in 

RSP English pursuant to his January 2003 IEP. The school district did not remove him from 

special education English class but was required to place him in general education English 

on order of his therapist and request of the father. The District did not consider alternative 

special education settings due to the therapist’s order and because the father wanted him 

to be placed in general education English. As it turned out, Student did not like or want to 

be in special education or be identified as a special education pupil. Student does not 

dispute that accommodations and modifications were provided to him in his general 

education English class. Student does not acknowledge, however, that perhaps the reason 

the student did poorly in general education English even with supports was that the 

appropriate placement for him was RSP English. Moreover, counseling for trauma from 

purported bullying was not warranted because it was not clearly established whether 

Student was actually harassed or abused in his special education English or merely 
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fabricated or exaggerated events in order to be removed from special education. Student’s 

expert witness found that the student was prone to exaggeration and his psychiatrist 

indicated he was not a good historian and had emotional difficulties with school. Student 

could not recall details about the alleged bullying. Based on the information available at the 

time of the medical order and parent request to place Student in general education English, 

the District offered and provided appropriate instruction and services designed to meet 

Student’s unique social emotional and educational needs and to provide some educational 

benefit. 

For the 2003-2004 school year, Student also incorrectly argues that the District did 

not provide him with appropriate instruction or services in reading and counseling for 

social emotional issues following the March 2004 psycho-educational assessment. From the 

assessment, the District learned that, due to a specific learning disability, Student 

demonstrated a significant discrepancy between his ability and achievement in reading and 

writing. He had low scores and deficits in reading, written expression, and language arts. In 

the social emotional area, the school psychologist found Student had a history of 

depression and anxiety, showed stress and feelings of inadequacy, and had socio-

emotional and motivational challenges. At the April 2004 triennial IEP meeting, the school 

psychologist recommended and the District offered Student speech and language therapy 

for his language disorders, RSP programming for his academic classes including English 

and reading, academic interventions, study skills and motivation training, and use of 

collaboration and assistive technology. Based on the school psychologist’s reports, the IEP 

team also offered counseling and a referral for county mental health assistance, and 

interaction with peers to increase socialization skills. Although the father did not consent to 

implementation of this triennial IEP, what the District offered in terms of education and 

services met Student’s unique needs and were reasonably calculated to provide some 

educational benefit. 
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For his sophomore and junior years during the 2004-2005 and 2005-2006 school 

years, respectively, Student complains that the District offered the same education program 

and services and that the programming was inadequate. Student started his sophomore 

year in general education including English and received speech therapy and counseling. 

Late in the fall semester, he was placed on home instruction pursuant to his psychiatrist’s 

order. Student has argued that the school district discontinued and failed to provide 

speech and counseling services after the change in placement to home instruction. 

However, as previously discussed in this Decision, the District temporarily suspended the 

services due to winter break and offered to resume the services at school but the father and 

Student did not avail themselves of the services. Student’s argument in his Due Process 

Request that he had unmet needs in social studies and history was not established by any 

evidence presented in the hearing. His contention that the school district should have 

provided the Fast ForWord reading program was not supported by the testimony of his 

own expert witness. For social emotional concerns, the District offered counseling and 

referrals for county mental health assistance but the father repeatedly declined the referrals 

based on his belief that his son had sufficient therapy. 

For the three school years in question, the evidence demonstrated that the District 

offered Student educational services and placements that were designed to meet his 

unique needs in language arts and social emotional areas as determined by assessments 

and observations. The services comported with his IEP's that included reports of his needs, 

progress, and goals and were reasonably calculated to provide him with some educational 

benefit. 

In this due process matter, Student has criticized the breadth and nature of the 

educational programming but the District placed him in general education English as 

ordered by the student’s therapist and on home instruction and independent study as 

ordered by the psychiatrist. The father agreed with these orders. The District has had to 

follow the medical orders and appease the father while continuing to develop and 
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recommend special education and related services for Student. The only time that Student 

did well in English was the first semester of ninth grade when he was in RSP English. For the 

past three years, the District has provided or offered to provide DIS speech and counseling 

services but Student did not cooperate and his father did not agree to the services as 

offered in IEP meetings and documents. In addition, the District has helped Student to 

progress towards graduation and to pass the high school exit exam and tried to offer 

services that would aid him in the social emotional area. As such, Student has obtained 

some educational benefit from the school district’s educational programming and services. 

As established by the evidence, and corroborated by the observations of his expert 

witness, teachers, and other health assessors, Student does not enjoy school and objects to 

being labeled or viewed as a pupil who needs special education or speech therapy. He is 

apathetic and disinterested about academics and has no motivation to do any school 

assignments. He did not participate or cooperate with therapists and teachers. He resents 

his father for what he views as interfering with his schooling. 

For his part, the father is a caring parent and a nice man who means well. He has 

strong-held beliefs about his son and what is best for him. Instead of special education or 

speech therapy, the father has asked for individual tutoring, speech software, and a reading 

program. As early as elementary school, the father did not want his son assessed by doctors 

or for special education. In seventh grade, the father removed his son from speech therapy. 

In eighth grade, the father and Student moved from another district soon after being 

identified as a special education pupil. In ninth grade, Student made allegations of bullying 

and the father asked that he be removed from RSP English. And in tenth and eleventh 

grades, Student was placed in general education English because his father did not sign 

IEP’s but then had to be moved to home instruction on orders of his psychiatrist due to 

psychological and stress issues related to school. The father never shared any private 

psychological information and diagnosis with the District and has declined counseling due 

to his belief that his son has had enough therapy. 
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Clearly, Student has required special education and services for his specific learning 

disability that affects his reading and writing as well as for his mental health issues. 

However, both Student and his father do not believe that special education and related 

services, such as speech therapy or counseling, are particularly helpful or necessary and 

would prefer that he study at home and not receive related services at school in the first 

place. In the circumstances of this matter, the educational programming offered to Student 

was reasonable and appropriate in light of the information available to the District when it 

developed or amended the IEP’s. The District cannot be said to have denied Student a FAPE 

under the IDEA or state law. 

8. Issue No. 7-- Among the remedies set forth in his Closing Brief, Student 

requests reimbursement for the independent psychoeducational assessment performed by 

Dr. Robert J. Rome in November 2005. Education Code section 56329, subdivision (b), 

provides that a parent may obtain an independent educational evaluation from a qualified 

specialist at public expense if the parent disagrees with an assessment obtained by the 

public educational agency. 

Here, it was not established that Student disagreed with any District assessment. In 

the spring 2004 semester, the District conducted a triennial evaluation and held a triennial 

IEP meeting. The evidence did not show that parent disagreed with that evaluation. A year 

and a half later, in October 2005, the father requested complete assessments of his son. A 

month later, in November 2005, the father did not wait for the District’s reassessment but 

went ahead and hired Dr. Rome to conduct an independent assessment. In December 2005, 

the District conducted the requested assessments. The evidence did not establish that the 

parent disagreed or expressed any disagreement with any District assessment. As a matter 

of fact, the findings of the independent assessment were very similar to those of the District 

in its two evaluations. Based on Findings 40 and 48, Student is not entitled to 

reimbursement for the independent assessment. 
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PREVAILING PARTY 

Under Education Code section 56507, subd. (d), this Decision must indicate the 

extent to which each party prevailed on each issue heard and decided in this due process 

matter. Pursuant to said mandate, it is determined that respondent school district prevailed 

on each and every issue heard in this matter, as set forth in Conclusions of Law nos. 2 – 8 

above. 

Wherefore, the Administrative Law Judge makes the following Order: 

ORDER 

The due process request of petitioner Student for relief and/or additional or 

different services from respondent Walnut Valley Unified School District must be denied, 

based on Conclusions of Law Nos. 2 - 8 above, jointly and for all. The due process request 

of petitioner Student, OAH Case No. N2005120382, shall be dismissed. 

 

Dated: 9/6/06 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF APPEAL RIGHTS 

This is a final administrative decision and both parties are bound by this Decision. 

Under Education Code section 56505, subdivision (k), either party may appeal this 

Decision to a court of competent jurisdiction within ninety (90) days of receipt of the 

Decision. 
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